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Independent Auditor’s Report 
To the Shareholders of Qassim Cement Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 

Opinion 

 
We have audited the financial statements of Qassim Cement Company (“the Company”), a Saudi Joint 
Stock Company, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, the 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash 
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, comprising Material accounting policies 
and other explanatory information. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at 31 December 2023, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
year then in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IFRS Accounting Standards) that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other 
standards and pronouncements issued by the Saudi Organization for Chartered and Professional 
Accountants (SOCPA). 

Basis for Opinion  

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Company in accordance with International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards), that is endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code’s requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 
 

Key audit matters   

 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the financial statements as a whole and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.  
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
To the Shareholders of Qassim Cement Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)  

Revenue recognition 

With reference to Note (6) of the accounting policy related to revenue from contracts with customers, as 
well as Note (24) related to disclosure of revenue. 

Key audit matter  How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Company applies the IFRS 15 “Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers”. 
 
As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s revenue 
amounted to SR 583 million. 
 
Revenue is recognized when the customer obtains 
control of the goods and this is done when the 
goods are accepted and delivered to the customer 
and the sales invoice is issued. 
 
Revenue is a key indicator for measuring 
performance, and this implies the presence of 
inherent risks by overstatement of revenue 
recognition to increase profitability. Therefore, 
revenue recognition was considered a key audit 
matter. 

Our audit procedures included, among others, based 
on our judgment, the following: 
 

- Assessing the appropriateness of the 
Company’s accounting policies relating to 
revenue recognition, as well as the extent of 
compliance with the related accounting 
standards. 

- Testing the design and implementation of 
internal control procedures related to revenue 
recognition and their operational effectiveness, 
including anti-fraud control procedures. 

- Conducting analytical audit procedures for 
revenues, by comparing sales quantities and 
prices for the current year with the previous 
year, and determining whether there are any 
significant trends or fluctuations that need 
additional examination in light of our 
understanding of the current market conditions. 

- Performing cut-off procedures on the timing of 
revenue recognition from sales after the 
products were delivered to the customers and 
recorded during their correct periods. 

- Conducting a sample-based examination of the 
revenue transactions with the supporting 
documents, to verify that the revenue is 
recorded in its correct periods. 

- Assessing the completeness and adequacy of 
the disclosures related to revenue for the year 
ended 31 December 2023. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
To the Shareholders of Qassim Cement Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)  
 

Existence and evaluation of inventory 

With reference to Note (6) of the accounting policy related to recognition of inventories, as well as Note (13) 
related to disclosure of inventory. 

Key audit matter  How the matter was addressed in our audit 

The Company applies IFRS 2. 
 
The raw materials inventory amounted to SR 92 
million, and the in-progress products inventory 
balance amounted to SR 172 million (mainly 
consisting of clinkers stored in the form of piles in 
yards built for this purpose) for the year ended 31 
December 2023. 
 
Determining the weight of this inventory is not 
practically possible, therefore, the management 
estimates the quantities available at the end of the 
year by measuring the inventory piles and 
converting the measurements into unit volumes 
using the angle of repose and quantitative density. 
To do this, the management appoints an 
independent inspection expert to estimate the 
quantities using some practical methodological 
measurement calculations and apply density 
conversion methods applied to similar types of 
inventory that are used in the cement industry. 
 
Given the importance of the inventory balances 
and related estimates used in determining the 
quantities, the existence and valuation of inventory 
was considered as a key audit matter.  

Our audit procedures included, among others, based 
on our judgment, the following:  

 
- Attending the physical inventory count 

conducted by the Company and an 
independent inspection expert. 

- Evaluating the efficiency, qualifications, and 
objectivity of the independent inspection expert 
in this field. 

- Obtaining the inventory count report submitted 
by the independent inspection expert regarding 
the main inventory items and checking them on 
the sample basis. 

- Involving our specialist to assess the 
reasonableness of inventory piles 
measurements carried out by management 
during the physical count and recalculate the 
conversion of volumes into quantities. 

- On a sample basis, testing the inventory 
valuation at the end of the year, and assessing 
judgments and estimates used in estimating 
the damages and the net realizable value of 
impairment by management. 

- Assessing the completeness and adequacy of 
the disclosures related to inventory for the year 
ended 31 December 2023. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
To the Shareholders of Qassim Cement Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)  

 

Other information  

 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
The annual report is expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s report. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 
 
When we read the annual report, when made available to us, if we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other 
standards and pronouncements issued by SOCPA, the applicable requirements of the Regulations for 
Companies, the Company’s By-Laws and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the 
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance, the Board of Directors, are responsible for overseeing the Company’s 
financial reporting process. 
 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) as endorsed in the Kingdom 
of Saudi Arabia will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing that are endorsed in the 
Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting 
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report (continued) 
To the Shareholders of Qassim Cement Company (A Saudi Joint Stock Company)  

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, then we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in
a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit of Qassim Cement Company (“the Company”). 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant 
ethical requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other 
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, procedures 
taken to eliminate threats and actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that 
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes 
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter 
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

KPMG Professional Services 

Fahad Mubark Al Dossari 
License No. 469 

Riyadh, 19 Sha’ban 1445H  
Corresponding to: 29 February 2024 



Qassim Cement Company 

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 

Statement of financial position   

As at 31 December 2023 

(Saudi Riyal) 
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 Note 

31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

Assets     

Non-current assets    

Property, plant and equipment 7 695,116,855 641,727,206 

Intangible assets 8 3,276,491 347,369 

Investment properties 9 9,516,450 9,516,450 

Financial investments at FVTPL 10-1 41,665,642 51,085,943 

Financial investments at amortized cost - non-current 

portion 11 100,000,000 100,000,000 

Right-of-use assets 12.a 673,110 1,346,221 

Total non-current assets  850,248,548 804,023,189 

Current assets    

Inventory 13 379,246,290 345,766,076 

Financial investments at amortized cost - current portion 11 160,830,667 224,000,000 

Financial investments at FVTPL 10-2 292,408,904 426,039,836 

Trade receivables 14 67,863,577 51,599,897 

Prepaid expenses and other receivables  15 14,219,116 23,115,134 

Cash and cash equivalents 16 39,989,094 51,883,753 

Total current assets  954,557,648 1,122,404,696 

Total assets  1,804,806,196 1,926,427,885 

Equity and liabilities     

Equity     

Share capital 17 900,000,000 900,000,000 

Statutory reserve 18 270,000,000 270,000,000 

Cumulative changes in the items of other comprehensive 

income 

 

(1,724,396) (3,778,033) 

Retained earnings  411,025,579 498,554,857 

Total equity   1,579,301,183 1,664,776,824 

Liabilities    

Non-current liabilities    

Provision for rehabilitation of areas subject to franchise 

license 19 14,799,151 13,900,094 

Employees’ benefits obligations 20 43,871,182 42,172,381 

Long-term lease liabilities 12.b - 606,653 

Total non-current liabilities  58,670,333 56,679,128 

Current liabilities    

Trade and other payables 21 89,117,897 118,769,814 

Dividends payable 25 56,497,883 57,510,427 

Zakat provision 22 20,441,682 26,887,677 

Other provisions 23 110,691 983,755 

Short-term lease liabilities 12.b 666,527 820,260 

Total current liabilities  166,834,680 204,971,933 

Total liabilities  225,505,013 261,651,061 

Total equity and liabilities   1,804,806,196 1,926,427,885 

 

The accompanying notes (1) through (38) form an integral part of these financial statements. 

The financial statements have been approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 21 February 2024 

and signed by: 
 

Mr. Masoud Hamid Amin  Eng. Omar bin Abdullah Al Omar  Dr. Mohammad Bin Nasser Al Dawood 

     

Head of Finance (Acting)  Chief Executive Officer - Board Member  Chairman 



Qassim Cement Company 

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 31 December 2023 

(Saudi Riyal) 
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Note 

31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

    

Revenue 24 583,559,913 678,456,217 

Cost of sales 24 (432,459,192) (489,970,597) 

Gross profit  151,100,721 188,485,620 

    

Selling and marketing expenses 26 (10,763,450) (11,752,169) 

General and administrative expenses 27 (28,378,832) (34,840,994) 

Reversal of provision for expected credit losses of 

trade receivables 14.b 5,164 1,659,404 

Other income 28 8,203,090 17,605,684 

Operating profit  120,166,693 161,157,545 

    

Unrealized gains\(losses) on investments at FVTPL, 

net 10 
 

14,944,274 

         

(19,149,182) 

Realized gains\(losses) on investments at FVTPL, net 

 
 

3,371,750 

           

(1,764,531) 

Dividends from investments at fair value through 

profit or loss  
 

2,442,053 

             

5,571,574 

Income from financial investments at amortized cost 11 18,609,795 10,267,938 

Finance costs 29 (958,931) (1,029,818) 

Profit before zakat   158,575,634 155,053,526 

    

Zakat 22 (16,604,912) (24,540,969) 

    

Profit for the year  141,970,722 130,512,557 

    

Other comprehensive income: 

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss:    

Actuarial gains on re-measurement of employees’ 

end-of-service benefits 20 2,053,637 85,350 

Total other comprehensive income  2,053,637 85,350 

Total comprehensive income  144,024,359 130,597,907 

    

Earning per share to net income for the year    

Basic  32 1,58 1.45 

Diluted 32 1,58 1.45 

    
 

(The accompanying notes form (1) to (38) form an integral part of these financial statements) 

The financial statements have been approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 21 February 

2024 and signed by : 

 
Mr. Masoud Hamid Amin  Eng. Omar bin Abdullah Al Omar  Dr. Mohammad Bin Nasser 

Al Dawood 

     

Head of Finance (Acting)  Chief Executive Officer - Board 

Member 

 Chairman 



Qassim Cement Company  

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 

Statement of changes in equity  

For the year ended 31 December 2023 

(Saudi Riyal) 

3 

 

 

Share capital 

Statutory 

reserve 

Cumulative 

changes in the 

items of other 

comprehensive 

income 

Retained 

earnings Total equity 

      

Balance as at 1 January 2022  900,000,000 270,000,000 (3,863,383) 566,042,300 1,732,178,917 

Profit for the year  - - - 130,512,557 130,512,557 

Other comprehensive income - - 85,350 - 85,350 

Total comprehensive income  - - 85,350 130,512,557 130,597,907 

Dividends (note 25) - - - (198,000,000) (198,000,000) 

Balance at 31 December 2022  900,000,000 270,000,000 (3,778,033) 498,554,857 1,664,776,824 

      

Balance as at 1 January 2023  900,000,000 270,000,000 (3,778,033) 498,554,857 1,664,776,824 

Profit for the year - - - 141,970,722 141,970,722 

Other comprehensive income  - - 2,053,637 - 2,053,637 

Total comprehensive income - - 2,053,637 141,970,722 144,024,359 

Dividends (note 25) - - - (229,500,000) (229,500,000) 

Balance as at 31 December 2023 900,000,000 270,000,000 (1,724,396) 411,025,579 1,579,301,183 

 

(The accompanying notes form (1) to (38) form an integral part of these financial statements) 

The financial statements have been approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 21 February 2024 and signed by: 

 

 

Mr. Masoud Hamid Amin  Eng. Omar bin Abdullah Al Omar  Dr. Mohammad Bin Nasser Al Dawood 

     

Head of Finance (Acting)  Chief Executive Officer - Board Member  Chairman 
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(A Saudi Joint Stock Company) 
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For the year ended 31 December 2023                   

(Saudi Riyal) 
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Note 

31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

    

Profit for the year  141,970,722 130,512,557 

Adjustments:    

Zakat expense 22 16,604,912 24,540,969 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 7 59,143,183 71,303,823 

Amortization of intangible assets 8 289,880 331,579 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 12.a 673,111 734,302 

Reversal of impairment in provision for expected credit losses for 

trade receivables 14.b (5,164) (1,659,404) 

(Reversal)/ provision for impairment of other receivables  15 (1,018,842) 743,473 

Provision for obsolete and slow-moving inventory 13 2,268,418 1,684,890 

Reversal of other provisions 23 (840,000) (8,000,000) 

Settlement of accrued expenses 35 (1,193,311) (513,286) 

Unrealized (gains)/losses from investments at FVTPL 10 (14,944,274) 19,149,182 

Realized (gains)/losses from investments at FVTPL  (3,371,750) 1,764,531 

Income from financial investments at amortized cost 11 (18,609,795) (10,267,938) 

Employees’ benefits obligations 20 5,820,089 4,819,160 

Closing of projects in progress under expenses  - 208,280 

Finance costs for rehabilitation of areas subject to franchise license 29 899,057 929,097 

Finance costs from leases 29 59,874 100,721 

Losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment  4,243 832 

  187,750,353 236,382,768 

Changes in working capital:    

Inventory 13 (35,748,632) (80,253,432) 

Trade receivables 14 (16,258,516) (15,200,741) 

Prepaid expenses and other receivables  10,708,097 (8,034,824) 

Used from other provisions 23 (33,064) (10,000,000) 

Trade and other payables  (28,458,607) 284,825 

End-of-service benefits paid 20 (2,067,651) (3,792,745) 

Zakat paid 22 (23,050,907) (26,797,889) 

Net cash generated from operating activities  92,841,074 92,587,962 

    

Investing activities    

Payment to purchase property, plant and equipment  7 (112,537,075) (82,113,478) 

Paid to purchase intangible assets 8 (3,219,002) - 

Payment for purchase of investments at FVTPL 10-2 (15,028,567) (74,913,186) 

Proceeds from sale of investments at FVTPL  176,395,824 242,318,162 

Payment to purchase financial investments at amortized cost  11 (442,188,167) (290,382,875) 

Proceeds from financial investments at amortized cost 11 505,357,500 252,682,875 

Proceeds from investments income at amortized cost  17,816,558 9,920,351 

Net cash generated from financing activities  126,597,071 57,511,849 

Financing activities    

Lease payments  (820,260) (820,260) 

Paid dividends 25 (230,512,544) (204,798,263) 

Net cash used in financing activities  (231,332,804) (205,618,523) 

Change in cash and cash equivalents during the year  (11,894,659) (55,518,712) 

Cash and cash equivalents as at the beginning of the year 16 51,883,753 107,402,465 

Cash and cash equivalents as at the end of the year 16 39,989,094 51,883,753 

Non-cash transactions are disclosed in Note (35). 

 

(The accompanying notes form (1) to (38) form an integral part of these financial statements) 
 

The financial statements have been approved for issuance by the Board of Directors on 21 February 2024 and 

signed by: 
 

 

Mr. Masoud Hamid Amin  Eng. Omar bin Abdullah Al Omar  Dr. Mohammad Bin Nasser Al Dawood 
     

Head of Finance (Acting)  Chief Executive Officer - Board Member  Chairman 
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1- COMPANY INFORMATION 
 

Qassim Cement Company (the “Company”) is a Saudi Joint Stock Company that is listed in Saudi 

Stock Exchange under the commercial registration number (1131001224) issued in the city of 

Buraydah dated 28 Sha’aban 1398H (corresponding to 02 August 1978). The Company was 

established as per the Regulations for Companies under the Royal Decree no. M/62 dated 15 Sha’aban 

1396H corresponding to 11 August 1976. 

 

The Company is engaged in manufacturing and producing cement, its derivatives and supplements, 

the trade of these products, and carrying out all works directly and indirectly related to this purpose. 

The Company carries out its activities through its factory located in Buraydah - Qassim, address (4266, 

unit 1, Buraydah, 52271 - 6735). 

 

The Company’s financial year begins on 1st January and ends on the 31 December of each Gregorian 

year. 

 

2- BASIS OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARATION 

 

2-1  Statement of compliance 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 

that are endorsed in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and other standards and pronouncements that are 

endorsed by the Saudi Organization for Chartered and Professional Accountants (SOCPA) (hereinafter 

referred to as “IFRS as endorsed in KSA”). 

 

2-2  Basis of measurement 
The financial statements are prepared under the historical cost convention except for the following 

significant items mentioned in the statement of financial position: 
 

 Financial investments at FVTPL are measured at fair value. 

 Defined benefit financial obligation receivables for future liabilities are recognized based on the 

projected unit credit method. 
 

Certain comparative figures have been amended to conform to the current year’s presentation.  

 

3- FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY 

 

These financial statements are prepared in Saudi Riyals (SR) which is the Company’s functional and 

presentation currency.  

 

4- USE OF ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS 

 

The preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgments and estimates that 

affect the application of accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and 

expenses. Uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that require a 

material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in future periods. 

 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 

reporting date, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below. The Company based its 

assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were prepared. 

Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to 

market changes or circumstances arising beyond the control of the Company. These changes are 

reflected in the assumptions when they occur. 
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4-  USE OF JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED) 

 

In particular, information about significant areas of estimated uncertainty and critical judgments in 

applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the amount recognized in the 

financial statements are described in the following notes: 

 

Measurement of employees’ benefits obligations 

 

The Company's obligation in respect of defined benefit plan is calculated by estimating the amount of 

future benefits that employees have earned in the current and prior periods and discounting that amount 

to arrive at present value. The calculation is performed annually by an independent actuary using the 

projected unit credit method. Judgments have been used in the estimation of actuarial assumptions. 

Key assumptions are disclosed in Note (20). 

 

Impairment of inventories 

The management estimates the impairment in the inventory to reach the net realizable value if its cost 

is not recoverable or it becomes damaged as a whole or a part of it, or if its selling price is less than its 

cost or if there are any other factors that may lead to a decrease in its realizable value for less than its 

cost. Estimates of net realizable value of inventories are based on the most reliable evidence at the 

time the estimates are made. These estimates take into consideration fluctuations of prices or costs 

directly related to events occurring subsequent to the financial statements date to the extent that such 

events confirm conditions existing as at the end of reporting period. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets (other 

than inventories) to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. When such indicator 

exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 

 

For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 

cash flows resulting from continuous use that are largely independent from other assets and cash-

generating units. 

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value or value in 

use less costs to sell. Value of use is based on future cash flows deducted from its current value using 

a discount rate reflects the current market assessments of current value of money and risks related to 

an asset or cash-generating unit. 

 

Impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds 

its recoverable amount. 

 

The Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of profit or loss, and the impairment loss is 

reversed only to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its carrying amount, 

net of depreciation or amortization, which would have been determined if the impairment losses have 

not been recognized. 

 

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment 

The management determines the estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment for calculating 

depreciation. This estimate is determined after considering expected usage of the assets and physical 

wear and tear. Management reviews the residual value and useful lives annually and change in 

depreciation charges (if any) are adjusted in current and future periods. 

 

Impairment of accounts receivables 

These are disclosed in Note (6) - Financial Instruments. 
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4-  USE OF JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (CONTINUED) 

 

Fair value of assets and liabilities 

Fair value is the selling price received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability within an orderly 

transaction between market participants on the measurement date or in the absence of that market, 

the best market available at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk. 

 

When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Company uses observable market data 

as far as possible. The fair values are categorized into hierarchical levels based on the data used in 

the valuation techniques as follows: 

 

• Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that may be 

obtained on the measurement date.  

 

• Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices that are not included in the first level and that can be observed 

for assets and liabilities directly (such as prices) or indirectly (that are derived from prices). 

 

• Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 

inputs). 

 

If the inputs used to measure the fair value of an asset or liability falls into different levels of the fair 

value hierarchy. then the measurement is categorized in its entirety as the lowest input level that is 

significant to the entire measurement. 

 

The Company recognizes transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the 

reporting period in which the change occurred. As at 31 December 2023 and 31 December 2022, 

there are no transfers between levels. 

 

The carrying amounts and fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels 

in the fair value hierarchy have been disclosed. It doesn’t include information about fair value of 

financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount reasonably 

equals fair value in note (34). 

 

Going concern 

The management of the Company has assessed the Company's ability to continue as a going concern, 

and concluded that the Company has sufficient resources to continue its business in the foreseeable 

future. In addition, the management does not have any material doubts about the Company's ability 

to continue as a going concern. Accordingly, the financial statements have been prepared on a going 

concern basis. 

 

5- NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED 

 

5-1  New standards, interpretations and amendments adopted by the Company 

The accounting policies applied by the Company in preparing the financial statements are consistent 

with those followed in preparing the annual financial statements of the Company for the year ended 

31 December 2022, except for the adoption of the new standards that are effective on 1 January 2023 

and have no material effect on these financial statements. 

 

Effective from New Standards and Amendments 

1 January 2023 Definition of accounting estimates (amendments to IAS 8) 

1 January 2023 Disclosure of Accounting Policies (amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice 

Statement 2) 
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5-  NEW STANDARDS ISSUED (CONTINUED) 

 

5.2  Standards issued but not yet effective 

 

Following are the standards and amendments that were issued but not yet effective. The Company 

does not expect to have a material impact on the financial statements if the below standards and 

amendments are adopted. 

 

Effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after New Standards and Amendments 

1 January 2024 IFRS (S1) “General Requirements for Disclosure of Sustainability-

related Financial Information” 

1 January 2024 IFRS (S2) “Climate-related Disclosures” 

 

6- MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICES 

 

The following accounting policies have been consistently applied the following accounting policies 

to all periods presented in these financial statements, except for what is indicated in Note (5). Further, 

the Company adopted the Disclosure of Accounting Policies (amendments to IFRS 1 and Practice 

Statement 2) from 1 January 2023. Amendments require disclosure of “Material” rather than 

“Significant” accounting policies. Although the amendments did not result in any changes in the 

accounting policy itself, they did affect the accounting policy information that was disclosed in 

certain cases. 

 

Revenue from contracts with customers 

The Company recognizes revenue from contracts with customers based on a five-step model as set 

out in IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’. 

 

Step 1 - Identify the contract(s) with a customer: A contract is defined as an agreement between two 

or more parties that creates enforceable rights and obligations and sets out the criteria for every 

contract that must be met. 

 

Step 2 - Identify performance obligations in the contract: A performance obligation is a promise in a 

contract with a customer to transfer a good or service to the customer. 

 

Step 3 - Determine the transaction price: The transaction price is the amount of consideration to 

which the Company expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring promised goods or services 

to a customer, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties. 

 

Step 4 - Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract: For a contract 

that has more than one performance obligation, the Company will allocate the transaction price to 

each performance obligation in an amount that depicts the amount of consideration to which the 

Company expects to be entitled in exchange for satisfying each performance obligation. 

 

Step 5 - Recognize revenue when the entity satisfies a performance obligation. 

 

If the amount that should be paid in the contract includes a variable amount, the Company estimates 

the amount to which the Company is entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services 

promised to provide to the customer. 
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6.  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued) 

 

An amount of consideration can vary because of discounts, rebates, refunds, credits, price 

concessions, incentives, performance bonuses, penalties or other similar items. The amount of the 

promised consideration may also vary if the Company's entitlement to the consideration is 

conditional on the occurrence or non-occurrence of a future event. 

 

The Company sells clinker and bulk and packaged cement, where the sale is made according to sales 

invoices and / or independent specific contracts concluded with the clients.  

 

Sale of goods  

For contracts with customers in which the sale of cement is generally expected to be the only 

performance obligation, revenue from the sale is recognized at the time that control of the asset is 

transferred to the customer at a point in time, which is usually upon delivery. 

 

The Company recognizes revenue at the point in time at which the customer obtains control of a 

promised asset and the entity satisfies the performance obligations. The Company takes into account 

the below-mentioned indicators in assessing the transfer of control over the promised asset: 

 

- The Company has a present right to payment for the asset 

- The customer has legal title to the asset 

- The Company has transferred physical possession of the asset 

- The customer has the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 

- The customer has accepted the asset 

 

Employees’ Benefits:  
 

Defined employees’ benefits plans 

According to the Saudi Labor Law in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, the Company is required to pay 

end-of-service benefits (a defined benefit plan), which are calculated based on the half of the last 

month's salary of each year of the first five years of service, including the fractions of the year plus 

the full last month’s salary for each year of the next or remaining service includes fractions of the 

year. End-of-service benefit plan is unfunded. 

 

Valuation technique and key assumptions for the actuarial study 

Under requirements of IAS 19 “Employees’ benefits”, end-of-service benefits obligations are 

calculated using the actuarial valuation and using the projected unit credit method at the end of each 

fiscal year. Gains or losses arising from the actuarial revaluation are recorded in the statement of 

comprehensive income for the period in which the revaluation occurred. The recognized 

remeasurement in OCI is immediately included under the retained earnings and is not included under 

profit or loss. Past service cost is calculated in profit or loss during the plan amendment period. The 

interest is calculated using the discount rate at the beginning of the period, on the employees’ defined 

benefits obligations. 

 

The current service cost of the defined benefit plan is recognized in the statement of profit or loss 

under employee’s benefits expense, to reflect the increase in the liability resulting from employee 

services for the current year and cases of change, curtail or settlement of benefits. The cost of services 

for previous years is included immediately in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

Actuarial gains and losses resulting from adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are 

charged and included in the equity in the statement of other comprehensive income in the period in 

which they arise. 
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6-  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICES (CONTINUED) 

 

Employees’ Benefits (continued)  
 

Defined benefit costs are classified as follows: 

- Service cost (including current service costs and past service costs, in addition to gains and losses 

resulting from employees’ promotions and reimbursements); 

- Interest cost, and 

- Re-measurement. 

 

Short-term employees’ benefits 

The liability is recognized and measured for benefits related to wages, salaries, annual leave and 

sick-leave in the period in which the service is provided on the undiscounted amounts of the benefits 

expected to be paid in exchange for those services. 

 

Investment income 

Investment income consists of Islamic Murabaha income on the funds invested, which are recognized 

in profit or loss. Islamic Murabaha income are recognized as they become due in profit or loss, using 

the effective interest method.  

 

Zakat 

Zakat provision is calculated in accordance with the Zakat, Tax and Customs Authority (“ZATCA”) 

provisions and rules in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. Zakat is calculated for the period in an estimate, 

and the provision for Zakat is charged in a separate item in the statement of profit or loss. Additional 

Zakat liability, if any, related to prior years’ assessments are accounted for in the period in which the 

final assessments are finalized. 

 

Inventory  

Inventory is measured at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Inventories cost is calculated using 

the weighted average method, which includes expenditure incurred in bringing inventories to their 

existing location and condition and in case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, 

inventories are charges with an appropriate share of production overheads based on normal operation 

capacity of the company. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the Company’s 

ordinary course of business, net of estimated costs to complete and sell. 

 

Foreign currencies 

 

Foreign currency transactions 
Transactions denominated in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the 

Company at the exchange rates ruling at the date of the transactions. 

 

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional 

currency at the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date. For non-financial assets and liabilities 

that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency, they are retranslated into the functional currency 

according to the exchange rates prevailing on the date of determining the fair value. Non-monetary 

items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 

exchange rate ruling on the date of the transaction. Foreign currency differences arising on 

retranslation are recognized in profit or loss. 
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6-  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICES (CONTINUED) 

 

Provision for rehabilitation of areas subject to franchise license 

The provision for the rehabilitation of areas subject to a franchise license is measured at the present 

value of the expected cost of re-settlement of the Company's franchise site, using the discount rate 

as at the start date of the franchise license contract. 

 

Property, plant and equipment 

 

Recognition and measurement  

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment 

losses, if any. 

 

Cost includes expenses that are directly related to the acquisition of the asset. For internally 

constructed assets, the cost of the asset includes the cost of materials, direct labor and other direct 

costs that are required to prepare them to the condition in which they are operated at their location 

and for the purpose for which they were acquired. 

 

Major or essential components of an item of property, plant and equipment that have different useful 

lives are accounted for as separate items (major components) within property, plant and equipment. 

 

Gains or losses arising from the disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined 

on the basis of the difference between the net proceeds of sale and the book value of the disposed 

items of property, plant and equipment, and are included in the statement of profit or loss in the 

period in which the disposal is made. 

 

Subsequent costs  

The costs of replacing a part of an item of property, plant and equipment are recognized in the 

carrying cost of this item if it is probable that the future economic benefits inherent in that part will 

flow to the Company, in addition to the possibility of measuring this cost reliably. The carrying value 

of the replaced part is eliminated. The costs of the day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 

equipment are recognized in the statement of profit as loss as incurred. 

 

Major inspections and maintenance are accounted for as a separate component if they are used in 

more than one financial period. The carrying amount of these components is determined by reference 

to the current market price of these repairs.  

 

Depreciation  

Depreciation is the systematic allocation of the depreciable value of items of property, plant and 

equipment (the cost of the asset less the residual value of the asset) over its useful life. 

 

Depreciation charge is recognized in the statement of profit or loss on the straight-line method over 

the estimated useful life of each item of property, plant and equipment. Leased assets are depreciated 

over the lower of lease term or the useful lives of the assets. Unless there is reasonable assurance that 

the Company will acquire ownership of these assets at the end of the lease term. Freehold land of the 

Company is not depreciated. 

 

When the useful life of an item of property, plant and equipment differs it is accounted for as separate 

items. 
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6-  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICES (CONTINUED) 

 

Property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 

The estimated useful lives of main items of property, plant and equipment for current and 

comparative years are as follows: 

 

Asset class  

 Useful lives for the 

current year 

(Years) 

 Useful lives for the 

comparative years 

(Years) 

     

Buildings  20-41  20-33 

Plant and equipment  20-36  20-30 

Tools and instruments  5-20  5-20 

Furniture and fixtures  5-10  5-10 

Motor vehicles  5  5 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed 

by the Company at each financial year-end. During 2023, that Company reviewed the useful lives 

and residual value of the main items of property, plant, and equipment using an independent expert. 

Based on the results of the review, the maximum estimated useful life of the buildings category was 

adjusted to 41 years instead of 33 years, and the maximum estimated useful life of the plant and 

equipment category was adjusted to 36 years instead of 30 years. 

 

Difference in estimates was treated as changes in accounting estimates as at the beginning of the year 

and the subsequent years. 

’000 SAR 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 

(Decrease)/increase in 

depreciation expense 

(11,798) (11,798) (11,798) (11,798) (11,798) 

 

 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial 

recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less any accumulated amortization and any 

accumulated impairment losses, if any. For intangible assets developed internally (except for 

capitalized development costs), they are not capitalized and the expenses are recognized in the 

statement of profit or loss at the time in which these expenses are accrued. 

 

Gains or losses arising from derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference 

between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and are recognized in the 

statement of profit and loss when the asset is derecognized. 

 

The estimated useful lives of intangible assets are as follows: 

 

Asset  

 Useful lives 

(Years) 

Computer software and intangible assets  3-5 
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6-  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICES (CONTINUED) 

 

Financial Instruments 

The Company has applied the following classification and measurement requirements for financial 

instruments. 

 

Recognition of financial instruments 

 

The financial asset and liability are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 

obligations of the instrument, and this generally occurs on the trade date. The Company derecognizes 

the financial assets when the contractual cash flows of those assets expire or when the Company 

transfers the right to obtain contractual cash flows from the financial asset in a transaction in which 

all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets are substantially transferred. Any interest 

arising from the transferred financial assets that the Company creates or retains is recognized as a 

separate asset or liability. 

 

Derecognition 

 

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and 

the sum of (i) the consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability 

assumed) and (ii) any cumulative gain or loss that had been recognized in OCI is recognized in the 

statement of profit or loss. However, in respect of equity securities designated as at FVOCI, any 

cumulative gain / loss recognized in the statement of other comprehensive income is not recognized 

in the profit or loss on de-recognition. 

 

The financial liability is derecognized from the statement of financial position when the Company 

pays the obligation arising, the contract is canceled or expired. 

 

 

Classification of financial instruments 

 

The Company classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 

1) Assets to be measured at amortized cost; or 

2) Fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL). 

3) Fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 

 

The classification depends on the Company’s business model for managing financial assets and the 

contractual terms of the financial assets' cash flows. 

 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequently to initial recognition unless the Company changed 

business model for managing the financial assets. In such case, all affected financial assets are 

reclassified at the first day of the first financial period subsequent to business model change. 

 

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not 

designated at FVTPL: 

- is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; 

and 

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 

and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

On initial measurement of investments in financial instruments that the Company does not hold for 

the trading purposes, the Company may elect to present any subsequent changes in the fair value of 

those investments in the statement of other comprehensive income. This election is made on an 

investment-by-investment basis. 
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6-  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Financial instruments (continued) 

 

Classification of financial instruments ( continued ) 

 

Any other financial assets not classified and measured at amortized cost or FVOCI as described 

above are measured at FVTPL. This includes all derivative financial assets. 

Financial assets at amortized cost 

 

These assets are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. 

The amortized cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and 

losses, and impairment are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on derecognition is 

recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Financial assets at FVTPL  

These assets are subsequently measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or 

dividends, are recognized in statement of profit or loss. 

 

Accounts Receivable 

Account receivable are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 

not listed in an active market, and arise primarily by providing goods and services to customers (such 

as trade receivables). It also includes other types of contractual financial assets that are initially 

recognized at fair value plus direct costs associated with obtaining it, and they are subsequently 

recognized at amortized cost using the effective interest method less provision for impairment.   

 

The trade receivables, recorded in a separate account after deducting the provision, are recognized 

in the statement of profit or loss and when their collectability is confirmed, their gross carrying 

amount is written off against their associated provision. 

 

Reclassification 

 

When an entity changes its business model for managing financial assets it shall reclassify all affected 

financial assets in accordance with the above-mentioned classification requirements. 

 

Offsetting of financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset with the net amount reported in the statement of 

financial position only if there is an enforceable legal right to offset the recognized amounts and an 

intent to settle on a net basis, or to realize the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously 

 

Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortized cost or at FVTPL. A financial liability is 

classified as at FVTPL if it is classified as held-for-trading, it is a derivative or it is designated as 

such on initial recognition. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are measured at fair value and net gains 

and losses, including any interest expense, are recognized in profit or loss. Other financial liabilities 

are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Interest expense 

and foreign exchange gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on 

derecognition is also recognized in profit or loss. 

 

Trade payables and accruals 

 

Trade payables and other payables are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently carried at 

amortized cost using the effective interest method. The Company derecognizes a financial liability 

(or part of the financial liability) from its statement of financial position when, and only when its 

contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, or expired. 
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6-  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Share capital 

Instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity (shareholders’ equity) only to the extent 

that they do not meet the definition of an asset or liability.  The Company's ordinary shares are 

classified as equity instruments (shareholders' equity). 

 

Impairment 

 

Impairment of financial assets 

IFRS 9 requires an entity to follow an expected credit loss model for the impairment of financial 

assets. 

 

ECLs shall be measured for financial assets measured at amortized cost or FVOCI. 

 

Under IFRS 9, loss allowances will be measured on either of the following bases: 

- 12-month ECLs. These are ECLs that result from possible default events within the 12 months 

after the reporting date. 

- lifetime ECLs. These are ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life 

of a financial instrument. 

 

Lifetime ECL measurement applies if the credit risk of a financial asset at the reporting date has 

increased significantly since initial recognition and 12-month ECL measurement applies if it has not. 

The Company may determine that a financial asset’s credit risk has not increased significantly if the 

asset has low credit risk at the reporting date. However, lifetime ECL measurement always applies 

for trade receivables and contract assets without a significant financing component; the Company 

may choose to apply this policy also for trade receivables and contract assets with no significant 

financing component. The Company has elected to measure loss allowances for trade receivables at 

an amount equal to 12-month ECLs.  

 

The carrying amount of financial asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the 

amount of the loss is recognized in the profit or loss. Interest income continues to be accrued on the 

reduced carrying amount using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the 

purpose of measuring the impairment loss. If, in a subsequent year, the amount of the estimated 

impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event occurring after the impairment was 

recognized, the previously recognized impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting the 

allowance account. If a write-off is reversed at a later time, it is recorded in profit or loss in the period 

in which it is recovered. 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets 

At each reporting date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its non-financial assets to 

determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 

recoverable amount is estimated. 

 

An impairment exists when the carrying value of the asset or cash-generating unit exceeds the 

recoverable value, which is the higher of the fair value of the asset less costs to sell or the value in 

use. The recoverable amount of an asset is determined unless the asset is generating cash flows that 

are largely independent of the cash flows from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying 

amount of an asset or cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered to 

be impaired and reduced to the recoverable amount. In determining fair value less costs to sell, the 

most recent market transactions are taken into consideration. If no such transactions can be identified, 

an appropriate valuation model is used. Value in use is based on a discounted cash flow model, 

whereby the expected future cash flows are discounted using a discount rate that reflects current 

market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
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6-  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Impairment of non-financial assets(continued) 
Impairment loss are recognized in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses recognized in 

respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 

units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets. in the unit (group of units) on a 

pro-rata basis. 

 

At each reporting date, an assessment is made to determine whether there is evidence that previously 

recognized impairment losses have no or decreased. If such evidence exists, the Company estimates 

the recoverable amount of the asset or cash-generating unit. An impairment loss recognized 

previously is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine the 

recoverable amount since the date of recognition of last impairment loss. The reversal is limited so 

that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss been 

recognized for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognized in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

Any impaired non-financial assets - other than goodwill, if any - are examined for possible reversal 

of this impairment at the end of each financial reporting period. 

 

Provisions 

Provisions are recognized when the Company has an obligation (legal or constructive) at the 

statement of financial position date arising from a past event, and the costs to settle the obligation 

are both probable and can be measured reliably. Provisions are determined by discounting the 

expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to that liability. 

 

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure 

required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. 

 

The discount rate used to determine the present value is the pre-zakat rate that reflects current market 

assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to liability. 

 

The increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognized as interest expense. 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, demand deposits with banks, and other short-term, 

highly liquid investments whose maturity dates are within three months or less of the original 

investment date and available to the company without restrictions, and the cash flows statement is 

prepared according to the indirect method.  

 

Expenses 

Selling and marketing expenses are those arising from the Company’s efforts underlying the 

marketing and selling functions. All other expenses, excluding cost of sales and financial charges, 

are classified as administrative expenses. Allocations of common expenses between cost of sales and 

selling, marketing and administrative expenses, when required, are made reasonably based on the 

nature and function of expenses. 
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6-  MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 

 

Current/non-current classification 

 

The Company classifies assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position as current/non-

current. An asset is classified as current when it is: 

 

• Expected to be realized or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle; 

• Held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

• Expected to be realized within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

• Cash and cash equivalents unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for 

at least twelve months after the reporting period. 

 

All other assets are classified as non-current. 

 

A liability is current when: 

• It is expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle; 

• Held primarily for the purpose of trading; 

• It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period; or 

• There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months 

after the reporting period. 

 

The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current. 

 

Segment information 

An operating segment is a group of assets and processes that jointly engage in the rendering of 

products or services subject to risks and rewards that differ from those of other business segments 

which are measured in accordance with the reports used by the executive management. 

 

  

The Company conducts most of its activities inside the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia, and therefore the 

financial information is not separated into geographical sectors. 

 

Dividends  

Dividends are approved by the Shareholders’ General Assembly and interim dividends are 

distributed in accordance with the authorization from the Shareholders’ General Assembly to the 

Board of Directors under the Companies Law. 

 

Statutory reserve 

The Company’s Bylaws require that 10% of the net annual income be transferred to the statutory 

reserve. Such transfer may be discontinued by the Ordinary General Assembly when the reserve 

reaches (30%) of the paid up share capital. Assessing the impact of the new Regulations for 

companies is in progress. 
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7- PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT  

 

7-1 The movement in property, plant, and equipment during the year ended 31 December 2023 is as follows:  

 
 

 

Land Buildings  

Plant and 

equipment  

Motor 

vehicles  Computers  

Furniture 

and fixtures  

Tools and 

instruments 

 

Projects in 

Progress* Total 

Cost:          

Balance at the beginning of the year 10,507,750  717,594,518  1,625,955,569  1,123,765  7,542,794 12,159,231  12,529,062  94,232,742 2,481,645,431 

Additions - 70,300   14,368,684 139,352 219,205 247,249 302,148 97,190,137 112,537,075 

Transferred from projects in 

progress - 168,325 1,602,000 - 319,018 - - (2,089,343) - 

Disposals during the year - - (7,419,425)    (5,913)    - (79,399)   - - (7,504,737) 

Adjustments - 19,641 (19,641) - - - - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2023 10,507,750 717,852,784 1,634,487,187 1,257,204 8,081,017 12,327,081 12,831,210 189,333,536 2,586,677,769 

Accumulated depreciation:          

Balance at the beginning of the year -  (493,605,356) (1,318,865,714) (497,101) (6,273,873) (11,171,284) (9,504,897) - (1,839,918,225) 

Depreciation charged for the year** - (11,020,314) (46,464,427) (200,159) (729,133) (237,671) (491,479) - (59,143,183) 

Disposals during the year - - 7,419,421  1,675  - 79,398  - - 7,500,494  

Adjustments - (17,922) 17,922  - - - - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2023 - (504,643,592) (1,357,892,798) (695,585) (7,003,006) (11,329,557) (9,996,376) - (1,891,560,914) 

Net book value:          

At 31 December 2023  10,507,750  213,209,192  276,594,389  561,619  1,078,011 997,524  2,834,834  189,333,536 695,116,855 

 

*Projects in progress mainly include a cement mill construction project, improvement projects, raising the efficiency of production lines projects, and civil 

works. 

** During the year ended 31 December 2023 the management has performed reassment of useful lifes of certain items of PPE. For future effect of this change 

on financial statements please refer to note 6 – Material accounting policies ( property, pant and equipment). 
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7-  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

 
7-2  Movement in property, plant, and equipment during the year ended 31 December 2022 is as follows:  

 

 

 

Land Buildings  

Plant and 

equipment  

Motor 

vehicles  Computers  

Furniture 

and fixtures  

Tools and 

instruments 

 

Projects 

 Under 

construction Total 

Cost:          

Balance at the beginning of 

the year 10,507,750  716,010,862  1,617,614,562  629,178  6,886,268 11,871,231  12,426,053  25,903,515 2,401,849,419 

Additions -    354,174  9,212,172  494,587  914,773 456,294 248,654 70,432,824 82,113,478 

Transferred from projects in 

progress -    1,229,482  665,835  -              -               -    (1,895,317) - 

Disposals during the year -    -     (1,537,000) -    (258,247)  (168,294)  (145,645) (208,280) (2,317,466) 

Balance at 31 December 

2022 10,507,750  717,594,518  1,625,955,569  1,123,765  7,542,794 12,159,231  12,529,062  94,232,742 2,481,645,431 

Accumulated 

depreciation:          

Balance at the beginning of 

the year -    (480,780,894) (1,263,317,826) (363,728) (6,004,110) (11,117,213) (9,138,986) - (1,770,722,757) 

Depreciation charged for the 

year -    (12,824,462) (57,084,887) (133,373) (527,975) (222,136) (510,990) - (71,303,823) 

Disposals during the year -    -    1,536,999 -    258,212 168,065 145,079 - 2,108,355 

Balance at 31 December 

2022 -    (493,605,356) (1,318,865,714) (497,101) (6,273,873) (11,171,284) (9,504,897) - (1,839,918,225) 

Net book value:          

At 31 December 2022  10,507,750 223,989,162 307,089,855 626,664 1,268,921 987,947 3,024,165 94,232,742 641,727,206 
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7-  PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

7-3 The Company obtained a mining concession in the Jabal Al-Quwaiter area, north of Buraidah, 

under the Royal Decree no. M/9 dated 4 Rabi’ I 1398H for a period of (30) Hijri years, renewable 

if the Company so desired in return for an annual fees, and on which the Company's buildings, 

machines and facilities were built. The license to exploit the limestone was renewed by the 

Ministerial Resolution No. 93/Q dated 17 Shawwal 1428H, valid for a period of 30 years, effective 

from the 3 Rabi’ I 1428H. 

 

7-4 Depreciation for the year was allocated as follows: 
 

 Note 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 
   

Cost of sales  58,663,707 70,833,303 

Selling and marketing expenses 26 179,292 179,103 

General and administrative expenses  27 300,184 291,417 

  59,143,183 71,303,823 

 

7-5 There are no mortgages on the property, plant, and equipment owned by the Company as at 31 

December 2023 (2022: nil). 

 

8- INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

 

8-1 Movement in intangible assets is as follows: 

 Intangible 

assets 

Projects in 

progress  Total 

Cost:    

Balance at 1 January 2022 5,894,946 - 5,894,946 

Additions during the year - -  

Transferred from projects in progress - -  

Balance at 31 December 2022 and 

January 2023 
5,894,946 - 5,894,946 

Additions during the year - 3,219,002 3,219,002 

Transferred from projects in progress - - - 

Balance at 31 December 2023 5,894,946 3,219,002 9,113,948 

Accumulated depreciation:    

Balance at 1 January 2022 (5,215,998) - (5,215,998) 

Depreciation charged for the year (331,579) - (331,579) 

Balance at 31 December 2022 and 

January 2023 (5,547,577)  (5,547,577) 

Depreciation charged for the year (289,880) - (289,880) 

Total as at 31 December 2023 (5,837,457)  (5,837,457) 

Carrying Amount    

As at 31 December 2022 347,369 - 347,369 

As at 31 December 2023 57,489 3,219,002 3,276,491 

 

8.2  Amortization for intangible assets was distributed as follows: 
 

 Note 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 
   

Cost of sales  266,523 308,222  

General and administrative expenses  27 23,357 23,357  

  289,880 331,579  

  



Qassim Cement Company   

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)  

Notes to the financial statements  

As at 31 December 2023 

(Saudi Riyal) 

 

21 
  

9- INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (LANDS) 

 

Investment properties represent plots of land owned by the Company for the purpose of leasing, 

capital appreciation, or both. As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of these lands amounted to 

SR 20,141,212 according to an approved valuer (Qeima Aqaria), who is an independent expert 

certified and licensed by the Saudi Authority for Accredited Valuers (Taqeem) (License number 

1210000338). The valuation techniques used were in the second level of fair value based on the 

prevailing market prices of similar investments. 

 

 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 

   

Carrying amount 9,516,450 9,516,450 

Fair value 20,141,212 20,140,912 

 

10- FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT FVTPL 

 

 31 December 2023  31 December 2022 

    

Investments at FVTPL - non-current (10-1) 41,665,642  51,085,943 

Financial investments at FVTPL - current (10-2) 292,408,904  426,039,836 

 

10-1 Financial investments at FVTPL - non-current 

 

 31 December 2023  31 December 2022 

    

Balance at the beginning of the year 51,085,943  82,781,013 

Disposals during the year (2,360,396)  (38,883,130) 

Unrealized (losses) / gains (7,059,905)  7,188,060 

 41,665,642  51,085,943 

 

The above investments are represented in shares of real estate funds, and these investments are 

valued by funds managers at their fair value. 

 

10-2 Financial investments at FVTPL - current 

 

 31 December 2023  31 December 2022 

    

Balance at the beginning of the year 426,039,836  582,663,455 

Additions during the year 15,028,567  74,913,186 

Disposals during the year (170,663,678)  (205,199,563) 

Unrealized gains/ (losses)  22,004,179  (26,337,242) 

 292,408,904  426,039,836 

 

 The above investments represent shares of commodity trading funds, trading finance funds, and 

discretionary portfolio with financial companies, which are valued at fair value. 
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11- FINANCIAL INVESTMENTS AT AMORTIZED COST 

 

 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 324,000,000 286,300,000 

Additions during the year 442,188,167 290,382,875 

Disposals during the year (505,357,500) (252,682,875) 

 260,830,667 324,000,000 

 

Financial investments were classified at amortized cost as at the end of the year as follows: 

   

Non-current portion of financial investments at 

amortized cost (*) 
100,000,000 100,000,000 

Current portion of financial investments at amortized 

cost 
160,830,667 224,000,000 

 

The above investments are represented in Murabaha and Sukuk, and a return is due. 

 

The average commission is 5,61% (2022: 5,38%). During the year ended 31 December 2023, total 

Murabaha and Sukuk income of SR 18,609,795 has been charged to the statement of profit or loss 

(31 December 2022: SR 10,267,938). 

 

(*) Non-current portion of financial investments at amortized cost is represented in Sukuk that will 

mature in June 2026. 

 

12- LEASES 

 

a) Right-of-use assets: 

 31 December 

2023 

 31 December 

2022 

    

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,346,221  2,080,523 

Depreciation during the year (673,111)  (734,302) 

 673,110  1,346,221 

 

Right-of-use assets represent the present value of the discounted payments of a long-term car rental 

contract signed with Al-Jomaih Company on 07 September 2020, for a period of four years, with a 

total value of SR 3,281,040. The discount rate used is 5.5%. 

 

b) Lease liabilities 

 

Lease liabilities have been presented in statement of financial position as follows: 

 

 31 December 

2023 

 31 December 

2022 

    

Long-term lease liabilities -  606,653 

Short-term lease liabilities 666,527  820,260 

 666,527  1,426,913 
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13- INVENTORY  

 

Inventories as at 31 December comprise the following: 

 

 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 

   

Spare parts  113,849,661 115,026,192 

Raw materials 92,926,515 96,550,088 

Production in progress  172,731,351 146,914,938 

Finished goods 9,569,180 4,916,866 

Packing materials 5,087,217 3,159,189 

Consumables and supplies  8,620,019 3,457,736 

Goods in transit 4,947,504 1,957,806 

 407,731,447 371,982,815 

Less: write down (28,485,157) (26,216,739) 

 379,246,290 345,766,076 

 

Movement write down of the inventory during the year is as follows: 

 

 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 26,216,739 26,983,814 

Provided during the year (*) 2,268,418 1,684,890 

Utilized during the year - (2,451,965) 

 28,485,157 26,216,739 

 

(*) During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company reduced the inventory of dormant and 

slow- moving spare parts and raw materials by SR 2,27 million (31 December 2022: SR 1,68 

million). 

 

14- TRADE RECEIVABLES 

 

a) Trade receivables comprise the following: 

  31 December 2023 31 December 2022 

    

Trade receivables  69,147,558 52,889,042 

Provision for expected credit losses  (1,283,981) (1,289,145) 

  67,863,577 51,599,897 

 

b) Movement in expected credit losses on trade receivables is as follows: 

  31 December 2023 31 December 2022 

    

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,289,145 2,948,549 

Reversal of impairment in provision for expected 

credit losses for trade receivables 
 (5,164) (1,659,404) 

  1,283,981 1,289,145 

 

Additional information related to credit and market risk exposures is disclosed in Note (34.b). 
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15- PREPAID EXPENSES AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 

 

Prepaid expenses and other receivables comprise the following: 

 

  31 December 

 2023 

31 December 

2022 

    

Advances to suppliers  2,422,965 11,209,676 

Prepaid expense  3,689,406 4,248,788 

Accrued income   2,338,762 2,327,660 

Employees’ receivables   1,864,877 1,180,141 

Refundable customs deposits  - 1,430,800 

Other receivables  3,903,106 3,736,911 

  14,219,116 24,133,976 

Less: Impairment of prepaid expenses and other 

receivables  - (1,018,842) 

  14,219,116 23,115,134 

 

Movement in expected credit losses was as follows: 

 

  31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

    

Balance at the beginning of the year  1,018,842 370,386 

Provided during the year  - 743,473 

Utilized during the year  (1,018,842) (95,017) 

  - 1,018,842 

 

16- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 

  31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

    

Cash in hand   532,658 600,893 

Cash at banks in local currency  31,464,715 46,984,693 

Cash at banks in foreign currencies  7,991,721 4,298,167 

  39,989,094 51,883,753 

 

17- SHARE CAPITAL 

 

The authorized and paid up share capital of the Company is SR 900 million divided into 90 million 

shares of SR 10 each. 

 

18- STATUTORY RESERVE 

 

The Fortieth Extraordinary General Assembly, on 30 Rabi al-awwal 1438H, corresponding to 29 

December 2016, approved the discontinuation of setting aside a percentage of net profits to the 

statutory reserve. Thus, the balance of the statutory reserve as at 31 December 2023 represents (30%) 

of the paid-up capital. This balance is not available for distribution as dividends. 
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19- PROVISION FOR REHABILITATION OF AREAS SUBJECT TO FRANCHISE LICENSE 

 

The provision for the rehabilitation of areas subject to a franchise license represents the present value 

of the expected cost of re-settlement of the Company's franchise site.  

 

Movement in the provision for rehabilitation of areas subject to franchise license is as follows: 

 

 31 December 

2023 

 

31 December 

2022 

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 13,900,094 12,970,997 

Interest costs of rehabilitation of areas subject to franchise 

license 899,057 929,097 

 14,799,151 13,900,094 

 

20- EMPLOYEES’ BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS 

 

a) Movement in the employees’ benefits obligation is as follows: 

 
 31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 42,172,381 41,231,316 

Additions during the year (Note 20-b) 5,820,089 4,819,160 

Payments made during the year (2,067,651) (3,792,745) 

 Actuarial (gain) from re-measurement of employees’ 

benefits obligations (2,053,637) (85,350) 

 43,871,182 42,172,381 

 

b)  Employee benefit expenses 

 31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

   

Wages and salaries  85,902,160   89,859,403  

Employee's Related Costs 5,942,049 6,134,226 

Expenses related to defined benefit plans(Note 20-a) 5,820,089 4,819,160 

 97,664,298 100,812,789 

 

c) The significant actuarial assumptions used by an independent external actuary are as 

follows: 
 

 

31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

    

Discount rate  4,88% 4,35% 

Salary increase rate  4,88% 4,35% 

Employees’ turnover rate  Moderate Moderate 
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20- EMPLOYEES’ BENEFITS OBLIGATIONS (CONTINUED) 

 

d) Sensitivity in defined benefit obligation 

 
  31 December 2023 31 December 2022 

 

Change in salary rate  

Base   

1% increase 46,593,179 44,961,438 

1% decrease 41,329,207 39,646,015 
    

 

Discount rate 

Base   

1% increase 41,497,427 39,793,646 

1% decrease 46,452,277 44,845,471 
    

Assumption of a statistical study of 

employees      

Membership data     

Employees average entry age 

(years)   39 39 

Average years of experience   7,6 7,8 

 

21- TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 

Accrued expenses and other accounts payables comprise of the following: 

 

  31 December 2023  31 December 2022 
     

Trade payables  31,253,626  29,129,692 

Accrued expenses   32,542,670  43,296,651 

Accrued quarry fees   7,810,642  21,725,816 

Advances from costumers  3,011,321  5,408,691 

Retention of performance bond  10,491,306  14,926,622 

VAT payable   3,165,186  3,333,494 

Accrued withholding tax   147,296  153,258 

Other payables   695,850  795,590 

  89,117,897  118,769,814 

 

22- ZAKAT PROVISION 

 

a) Zakat base of the Company comprises the following: 

 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 
   

Equity at beginning of the year 1,664,776,824 1,736,042,300 

Additions 168,262,978 173,219,409 

Deductions (1,202,272,884) (1,115,517,466) 

Basis for calculation of Zakat 630,766,918 793,744,243 

Adjusted net income for the year subject to Zakat 168,543,197 163,230,148 

 799,310,115 956,974,391 

 

Zakat base (equity method) (a) 799,310,115 956,974,391 

Zakat base (adjusted net income) (b) 168,543,197 163,230,148 

Zakat payable, higher of (a) or (b) 20,441,682 24,540,969 

Less: carried forward balance from previous periods (3,836,770) - 

Zakat charge made during the year 16,604,912 24,540,969 
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22- ZAKAT PROVISION (CONTINUED) 

 

b) Movement in Zakat Provision during the year is as follows: 

 31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 26,887,677 29,144,597 

Provided during the year 16,604,912 24,540,969 

Paid during the year (23,050,907) (26,797,889) 

 20,441,682 26,887,677 

 

c) Zakat status:  

The Company submitted all Zakat returns due up to the year ended 31 December 2022. On 21 

Ramadan 1444H (corresponding to 12 April 2023), the Company obtained a certificate from ZATCA 

for the year ended 31 December 2022 to enable it to complete all its transactions, including the 

payment of its final accruals for contracts. 

 

On 29 Dhu Al-Qa’dah 1444H (corresponding to 18 June 2023), the Company received a notice from 

ZATCA containing a request for additional information to review the zakat returns for the years 2021 

and 2022. Until the date of issuing the financial statements, the Company did not receive any 

notification indicating that there were material adjustments to its returns submitted to ZATCA. 

 

23- OTHER PROVISIONS 

 31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

   

Provision for legal claims and objections 110,691  983,755 

 110,691  983,755 

 

Movement in other provisions during the year is as follows: 

 31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 983,755 18,983,755 

Utilized during the year (33,064) (10,000,000) 

Reversal during the year (840,000) (8,000,000) 

 110,691  983,755 

 

24- REVENUE AND COST OF SALES  

 

 No other revenue classifications have been disclosed as the entire amount of revenue is a result 

of bulk and packed cement sales within the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia and there are no other 

products for the Company, and there is no key difference between the selling prices or the 

production cost of the two types of bulk or packed cement. The Company also sells its entire 

products through distributors. The sale takes place at a point in time and not over time. 

 

 The cost of sales represent mainly the cost of raw materials, direct wages, fuel, power, spare 

parts and consumables.  

 

  



Qassim Cement Company   

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)  

Notes to the financial statements  

As at 31 December 2023 

(Saudi Riyal) 

 

28 
  

25- DIVIDENDS 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2023 

 

- On 19 February 2023, based on the prior authorization of the General Assembly to 

shareholders, the Board of Directors decided to distribute dividends of SR 54 million at SR 

0.60 per share for the fourth quarter dividends of 2022. 

- On 24 May 2023, based on the prior authorization of the General Assembly of shareholders, 

the Board of Directors decided to distribute dividends of SR 58.5 million at SR 0.65 per share 

for the first quarter dividends of 2023. 

- On 22 August 2023, based on the prior authorization of the General Assembly of shareholders, 

the Board of Directors decided to distribute dividends of SR 58.5 million at SR 0.65 per share 

for the second quarter dividends of 2023. 

- On 26 November 2023, based on the prior authorization of the General Assembly of 

shareholders, the Board of Directors decided (by passing) to distribute dividends of SR 58.5 

million at SR 0.65 per share for the third quarter dividends of the year 2023. 

 

During the year ended 31 December 2022 

 

- On 8 February 2022, based on the authorization of the General Assembly of the shareholders, 

the Board of Directors decided to distribute dividends of SR 54 million at SR 0.60 per share 

for the fourth quarter dividends of the year 2021. 

- On 23 March 2022, the Company’s Ordinary General Assembly convened and approved the 

Board of Directors’ distribution of dividends to the shareholders in the amount of SR 315 

million at (SR 3.5) per share for the first, second, third and fourth quarters of year 2021. 

- On 17 May 2022, based on the authorization of the General Assembly of shareholders, the 

Board of Directors decided to distribute dividends of SR 45 million at SR 0,50 per share for 

the first quarter dividends of the year 2022. 

- On 13 September 2022, based on the authorization of the General Assembly of shareholders, 

the Board of Directors decided (by passing) to distribute dividends of SR 45 million at SR 0,50 

per shar for the second quarter dividends of the year 2022. 

- On 21 November 2022, based on the authorization of the Shareholders’ General Assembly, the 

Board of Directors decided to distribute dividends of SR 54 million at SR 0,60 per share for 

the third quarter dividends of the year 2022. 

 

Movement in dividends payable during the year is as follows: 

 

 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 

   

Balance at the beginning of the year 57,510,427 64,308,690 

Announced during the year 229,500,000 198,000,000 

Paid made during the year (230,512,544) (204,798,263) 

 56,497,883 57,510,427 
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26- SELLING AND MARKETING EXPENSES 

 

Selling and marketing expenses for the year ended 31 December comprise the following: 

 

   For the year 

ended 31 

December 2023 

For the year  

ended 31 

December 2022 

    

Salaries, wages and equivalents  5,931,516 6,968,930 

Other employees’ benefits and medical insurance  449,336 485,031 

Assignments and business trips costs  226,587 151,309 

Maintenance and fuel  287,267 161,908 

Depreciations (Note 7.4)  179,292 179,103 

Stationery and publications  161,231 161,157 

Other expenses  169,187 63,103 

Bank charges and commissions  101,494 35,223 

Communications   1,241 6,561 

Expenses charged from cost of common service 

centers 

 
3,256,299 3,539,844 

  10,763,450 11,752,169 

 

27- GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES 

 

General and administrative expenses for the year ended 31 December comprise the 

following: 
 

 For the year ended 

 31 December 2023 

For the year ended 

 31 December 2022 

   

Salaries, wages and equivalents 14,798,310 15,619,708 

Other employees’ benefits and medical insurance 505,361 403,651 

Training, assignments and business trips costs 110,283 191,462 

Directors’ remuneration   3,840,000 2,900,000 

Remuneration of committee members from outside 

the board of directors 340,000 300,000 

Allowance to attend meeting of the Board of 

Directors and Committees  451,500 451,000 

Maintenance, fuel and electricity 203,210 154,904 

Listing and deposit center fees  810,089 854,022 

Depreciations (Note 7.4) 300,184 291,416 

Amortization for intangible assets 23,357 23,357 

Legal and financial consultancy  3,123,917 8,717,843 

Donations and social responsibility 105,604 121,697 

Telecommunication and postage 31,220 34,406 

Bank commissions 271,806 336,574 

Stationery and publications 99,976 103,689 

Insurance expense 29,525 25,445 

Out-of-Pocket Expenses  399,416 305,790 

Expenses charged from cost of common service 

centers 2,935,074 3,262,556 

Impairment of other accounts receivables - 743,474 

 28,378,832 34,840,994 
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28- OTHER INCOME 

 

Other income for the year ended 31 December comprises the following: 
 

 For the year 

ended 

 31 December 

2023 

For the year 

ended 

 31 December 

2022 

   

Other miscellaneous income 2,364,848 1,544,234 

Reversal of provisions and expenses reimbursements 2,314,579 12,622,586 

Revenue from sale of industrial waste and scrap 1,033,739 890,700 

Deposits received from Human Resource Development 

Fund 
920,151 1,237,177 

Rental income 884,420 1,185,544 

Contractors compensations   413,820  

Revenue from sale of cement dust   271,533 125,443 

 8,203,090 17,605,684 

 

29- FINANCE COSTS 

 

Financial costs for the year ended 31 December comprise the following: 
  For the year 

ended 

 31 December 

2023 

For the year 

ended 

 31 December 

2022 

    

Finance costs for rehabilitation of areas subject to 

franchise license 

 899,057 929,097 

Finance costs from leases  59,874 100,721 

  958,931 1,029,818 

 

30- CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 

 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company has bank facilities in the form of letters of guarantee and 

letters of credit from commercial banks of SR 39.1 million (31 December 2022: SR 91.8 million). 

 

As at 31 December 2023, the capital commitments on the Company are SR 39,06 million (31 

December 2022: SR 121,8 million). The total value of ongoing projects’ contracts amounted to SR 

226,5 million as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: SR 201,8 million). 
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31- SEGMENT INFORMATION 

 

The Company’s activities are mainly represented in an operating sector, which is the 

manufacturing and selling of cement that is mainly sold to local customers. Segment information 

of the Company is divided as follows: 

 

A) Financial information for revenue and profits related to sector for the year ended 31 December 

2023 and 2022 is as follows: 

 Operating Segment 

 
31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

Revenue from contracts with customers 583,559,913 678,456,217 
Profit before zakat 119,207,762 160,127,727  

 

B) Financial information for the sector’s assets and liabilities for the year ended 31 December 2023 

and 2022 is as follows: 

 Operating Segment 

 
31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 

   

Total assets 1,209,900,983 1,125,302,106 

Total liabilities 225,505,013 261,651,061 

 

32- EARNINGS PER SHARE – BASIC AND DILUTED 

 

Basic earnings per share was calculated by dividing the distributable income for the year among 

the shareholders who own the ordinary shares of the Company by the weighted average number of 

sordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

 

The diluted earnings per share are the same as the basic earnings per share as the company has no 

diluted instruments. 

 

 For the year 

ended 

 31 December 

2023 

For the year 

ended 

 31 December 

2022 

   

Net income for the year 141,970,722 130,512,557 

Weighted average number of shares 90,000,000 90,000,000 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 1,58 1,45 
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33- DISCLOSURES OF RELATED PARTY PARTIES 

 

Related parties represent major shareholders, members of the Board of Directors of the Company, 

key management personnel of the Company, and entities managed or a significant influence is 

exercised over them by these parties. There are no transactions with related parties other than the 

following: 

 

Key management personnel remuneration  

The remuneration of the board of directors and other key management personnel charged during 

the year are as follows: 

 

 
For the year ended 

 31 December 2023 

For the year ended 

 31 December  

2022 

   

Salaries and short-term benefits - key management personnel 14,480,851 12,691,071 

Post-employment benefits - key management personnel 1,330,316 800,800 

Board of Directors and committees’ remuneration and allowances  4,631,500 3,651,000 

 20,442,667 17,142,871 
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34- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

 

a) Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

The following table shows the carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities, including their levels in the fair value hierarchy. 

They do not include fair value information for financial assets and financial liabilities not measured at fair value if the carrying amount is a reasonable 

approximate of fair value. 

 

 31 December 2023 

 Carrying amount  Fair value 

 
Fair value 

Amortized 

cost 

Other 

financial 

liabilities Total  Level 1 Level 2* Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at fair 

value: 
         

Investments at fair value 

through profit or loss 334,074,546 - - 334,074,546  85,165,110 248,909,436 
- 

334,074,546 

 334,074,546 - - 334,074,546  85,165,110 248,909,436 - 334,074,546 

Financial assets at 

amortized cost:          

Financial investments at 

amortized cost - 260,830,667 - 260,830,667 
 

- - - - 

Trade receivables - 67,863,577 - 67,863,577  - - - - 

Cash and cash 

equivalents - 
39,989,094 

- 
39,989,094  - - - - 

 - 368,683,338 - 368,683,338  - - - - 

Financial liabilities not 

measured at fair value:          

Trade payables - - 31,253,626 31,253,626  - - - - 

Accrued expenses and 

other payables - - 57,864,271 57,864,271  

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 - - 89,117,897 89,117,897  - - - - 
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34- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 

 

a) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

 31 December 2022 

 Carrying amount  Fair value 

 
Fair value 

Amortized 

cost 

Other 

financial 

liabilities Total  Level 1 Level 2* Level 3 Total 

Financial assets at fair 

value: 
         

Investments at fair value 

through profit or loss 477,125,779 - - 477,125,779  71,049,404 406,076,375 - 477,125,779 

 477,125,779 - - 477,125,779  71,049,404 406,076,375 - 477,125,779 

Financial assets at 

amortized cost:          

Financial investments at 

amortized cost - 324,000,000 - 324,000,000 
 

- - - - 

Trade receivables - 51,599,897 - 51,599,897  - - - - 

Cash and cash 

equivalents 
- 51,883,753 - 51,883,753  - - - - 

 - 427,483,650 - 427,483,650  - - - - 

Financial liabilities not 

measured at fair value:          

Trade payables - - 29,129,692 29,129,692  - - - - 

Accrued expenses and 

other payables 

 

- 

 

- 

 

89,640,122 

 

89,640,122 
 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 - - 118,769,814 118,769,814  - - - - 

 

 

 *The valuation model is based on market multiples derived from quoted prices of companies comparable to the investee and the expected EBITDA of 

the investee. The estimate is adjusted for the effect of the non-marketability of the equity securities.
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34- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

(CONTINUED) 

 

a) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (continued) 

 

There were no transfers between the levels of fair value hierarchies during the year. 

 

Level 1 consists of investments in local portfolios, as they are traded in a recognized financial market 

at their most recent quoted prices.  

 

Level 2 consists of investments in both local and international portfolios. Investments in unlisted 

mutual funds are valued using unadjusted net asset value or when units in the fund are redeemable 

on the basis of net asset value, at the measurement date, as appropriate. 

 

Level 3 consists of investments in both local and international funds. Investments in local and 

international mutual funds and real estate funds, managed by the Company, are valued at fair value 

based on the latest net asset values reported by the fund managers. 

 

b) Risk Management 

The Company's overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictable fluctuations in 

financial markets and aims to minimize potential negative impacts on the Company's financial 

performance. 

 

Financial risk management framework 
Risk management policy is carried out by the senior management under policies approved by the 

Board of Directors. Senior management identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-

operation with the Company’s operating units. The most important types of risk are credit risk, 

currency risk and fair value and cash flow interest rate risks. 

 

The Board of Directors has an overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the 

Company’s risk management framework. The executive management team is responsible for 

developing and monitoring the Company's risk management policies. The teamwork conducts 

meetings on a regular basis, and any changes or matters related to compliance with policies are 

reported to the Board of Directors through the Audit Committee. 

 

The risk management systems are reviewed regularly by the executive management team to reflect 

changes in market conditions and the Company's activities. Through training, management standards 

and procedures, the Company aims to develop a responsible and constructive control environment 

so that all employees are aware of their roles and responsibilities. 

 

The Risk Committee oversees the management's compliance with the Company's risk management 

policies and procedures, and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to 

the risks faced by the Company. 

 

Financial instruments included in the statement of financial position include cash and cash 

equivalents, trade and other receivables, financial assets, trade and other payables. The recognition 

methods used are disclosed in the individual policy statement for each item. 

 

The Company is exposed to the following risks as a result of its use of financial instruments: 

a) Credit risks 

b) Liquidity risk 

c) Market risk 

 

  



Qassim Cement Company   

(A Saudi Joint Stock Company)  

Notes to the financial statements  

As at 31 December 2023 

(Saudi Riyal) 

 

36 
  

34- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

(CONTINUED) 

 

a) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty fails to meet its 

contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s trade receivables and cash and 

cash equivalents. The carrying amount of financial asset represents the maximum credit exposure. 

The following table presents an analysis of the credit quality of debt securities at amortised cost, 

FVOCI and FVTPL. It indicates whether assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI were subject 

to a 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL allowance and, in the latter case, whether they were credit-

impaired. 

 

Credit rating 
31 December 2023 

FVTPL At amortised cost 

SAR  

12- 

month  

ECL 
Lifetime ECL –  

not credit-impaired 
Lifetime ECL – 

credit-impaired 

BBB- to AAA 334,074,546 - 260,830,667 - 

Carrying amount 334,074,546  260,830,667 - 

 

 

Credit rating 

31 December 2022 

FVTPL At amortised cost 

SAR  

12- 

month  
ECL 

Lifetime ECL –  

not credit-impaired 

Lifetime ECL – 

credit-impaired 

BBB- to AAA 477,125,779 - 324,000,000 - 

Carrying amount 477,125,779 - 324,000,000 - 

 

Bank balances and trade receivables 

The cash and cash equivalents of the Company are deposited in public accounts with local banks 

with good credit ratings ranging from BBB- and above. 

 

The Company's exposure to credit risk is mainly affected by the individual characteristics of each 

customer, however; management also considers the factors that may influence the credit risk of its 

customer base, including the default risk of the industry in which the costumer operates.  

 

Management also continues to monitor the credit risk of its customers and creates a provision for 

doubtful balances. The existing customer balances are continuously monitored. Cash and cash 

equivalents are placed with national banks with sound credit ratings. Trade and other receivables are 

basically due from customers in local markets and most balances are pledged against effective bank 

guarantees from local banks with sound credit ratings. Trade and other receivables have been shown 

at their estimated recoverable value. 

 

100% of trade receivables is in the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia (2022: 100%). The three largest 

customers constitute approximately 75% of trade receivables as at 31 December 2023 (2022: 59%). 

All customers are companies or sole proprietorships. The three largest customers constitute 

approximately 39% of total revenue as of 31 December 2023 (2022:37%) . 
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34- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

(CONTINUED) 

 

a) Credit risk(continued) 

 

Management takes into account available and supportive forward-looking information such as: 

 

a) Significant actual or anticipated changes in the business. 

b) Actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the counterparty, 

c) Financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant change in the 

counterparty's ability to fulfill its obligations. 

d) Significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same counterparty, 

e) Significant changes in the value of the collateral in support of the obligation or in the quality of 

counterparty guarantees or credit improvements.  

 

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade 

receivables: 

 
 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 

Period Balance Impairment 

Weighted-

average 

credit losses 

rate 

Credit 

impaired Balance Impairment 

Weighted-

average 

credit 

losses rate 

Credit 

Impaired 

Not past due and not 

impaired 47,658,579 - 0% No 41,479,357 - 0% No 

0 - 90 days 15,621,484 115,241 1% No 9,219,640 151,669 2% No 

90 - 180 days 2,797,534 31,056 1% No 1,061,606 12,314 1% No 

180 - 360 days 874,637 44,793 5% No 3,036 133 4% No 

360 - 720 days 1,532,920 430,487 28% No 622 248 40% No 

More than 720 days 662,404 662,404 100% Yes 1,124,781 1,124,781 100% Yes 

 69,147,558 1,283,981   52,889,042 1,289,145   

 

Management believes that the amounts that have been impaired and that are past due for more than 90 

days are still fully collectible based on the previous payment behavior and comprehensive analysis of 

the customer's credit risk, including the customer's underlying credit ratings, if available. The Company 

establishes a provision for all balances past due for more than 720 days (2022: 720 days). As at 31 

December 2023, the balance of the provision for expected credit losses amounted to SR 1,283,981 (2022: 

SR 1,289,145). Credit risk grade are segmented by bucket classification and an ECL rate is calculated 

for each bucket based on delinquency status and actual credit loss experience over the past years. 

b) Liquidity risks 
 

Liquidity risk is the difficulties that an entity will encounter in raising funds to meet commitments 

related to financial instruments. Liquidity risk may result from the inability to sell financial assets 

quickly at an amount close to its fair value. Liquidity risk is managed by monitoring liquidity on an 

ongoing basis and ensuring that sufficient financial resources are in place. Concentration in liquidity 

risk may arise from terms of repayment of financial obligations, sources of financing, or reliance on a 

specific market to obtain liquid assets. The following are the contractual maturities of the financial 

liabilities at the end of the year that were presented in gross and undiscounted amounts. 
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34- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

(CONTINUED) 

 

b)  Liquidity risks (continued) 

2023 

Total carrying 

amount 

Less than 3 

months 

3-12 

months 

1 to 5 

years 

Total 

contractual 

maturity 

Payables 31,253,626 31,253,626 - - 31,253,626 

Accrued expenses and other 

payables 
51,540,468 18,706,337 32,834,131 - 51,540,468 

Dividends payable 56,497,883 - 56,497,883 - 56,497,883 

Lease labilities 666,527 194,245 488,846 - 683,091 

Other provisions 110,691 - 110,691 - 110,691 
 140,069,195 50,154,208 89,931,551 - 140,085,759 

 

2022 

Total carrying 

amount 

Less than 3 

months 3-12 months 1 to 5 years 

Total 

contractual 

maturity 

Payables 29,129,692 29,129,692 - - 29,129,692 

Accrued expenses and 

other payables 80,744,679 - 80,744,679 - 80,744,679 

Dividends payable 57,510,427 - 57,510,427 - 57,510,427 

Lease labilities 1,426,913 186,178 574,207 666,527 1,426,912 

Other provisions 5,983,755 - 5,983,755 - 5,983,755 
 174,795,466 29,315,870 144,813,068 666,527 174,795,465 

 

As at 31 December 2023, the Company holds cash and cash equivalents of SR 40 million (31 

December 2022: SR 51,9 million). Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter 

difficulties in meeting the obligations associated with its financial liabilities that are settled by 

delivering cash or other financial assets. The Company's approach to managing liquidity is to 

ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when they are 

due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring losses or risking damage to the 

Company's reputation. 

 

Capital management 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to 

continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits 

for other stakeholders. And to maintain a strong capital base to support the sustained development 

of its businesses. 

The Company’s adjusted net liabilities to equity ratio is as follows:  

 

 31 December 2023 31 December 2022 
   

Total liabilities  225,505,013 261,651,061 

Less: cash and cash equivalents (39,989,094) (51,883,753) 

Adjusted net debt 185,515,919 209,767,308 

Total equity  1,579,301,183 1,664,776,824 

Adjusted equity and net debt 1,764,817,102 1,874,544,132 

Adjusted debt ratio to adjusted equity ratio 10.51% 11.19% 
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34- FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – FAIR VALUES AND RISK MANAGEMENT 

(CONTINUED) 

 

c) Market risk 

 

Market risk is the risk of possible impact of changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange 

rates and commission rate. The objective of market risk management is to manage and control 

market risk exposures within acceptable parameters, while optimizing the return. 

 

 Foreign currency risk 

Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in 

currency foreign exchange rates. Since the Saudi Riyal is pegged against the US Dollar, there are 

no significant currency risks. The Company’s management monitors the changes in foreign 

currency exchange rates and believes that foreign currency risks are insignificant. 

 

 Commission rate risk 

Commission rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in market commission rates will affect 

future profitability or the fair value of the financial instruments. The Company monitors the 

fluctuations in commission rates and believes that the effect of the commission rate risk is not 

material. 

 

35- NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 

 

The most important non-cash transactions for the purposes of preparing the statement of cash flows 

are as follows: 

 

Significant non-cash transactions 31 December 

2023 

31 December 

2022 
   

Transferred from projects in progress to property, plant and 

equipment 2,089,342 1,895,317 

Due from sale of investments at FVTPL 100,740 - 

Settlement of accrued expenses 1,193,311 513,286 

Actuarial gains on employees’ benefits 2,053,637 85,350 

 

36- MATERIAL EVENTS 

 

Acquisition of Hail Cement Company 

- On 24 December 2023, the Company announced the conclusion of a binding implementation 

agreement with Hail Cement Company on 08 Jumadah II 1445H (corresponding to 21 December 

2023) (hereinafter referred to as the "Implementation Agreement"), according to which it was 

agreed that Qassim Cement Company would submit an offer to the shareholders of Hail Cement 

Company to acquire all of Hail Cement Company‘s shares against issuance of new shares in Qassim 

Cement Company in accordance with the provisions of Article (26) of the Mergers and Acquisitions 

Regulations and as per the Rules on the Offer o Securities and Constituting Obligations issued by 

the Board of the Capital Market Authority (hereinafter referred to as the “Authority”). As well as 

in accordance with the terms and conditions stipulated in the implementation agreement 

(hereinafter referred to as the “deal”), based on the swap factor and closing price of Qassim Cement 

Company’s shares amounting to SR 63.20 as at the date of signing the implementation agreement 

(which is the last trading day preceding the date of announcement publication), the valuation of 

Hail Cement Company’s share for the purposes of the deal amounts to SR 13.27. The valuation of 

the total value of Hail Cement Company’s shares for the purpose of the deal is one billion two 

hundred and ninety-nine million three hundred and twenty-eight thousand and eight hundred Saudi 

Riyals (SR 1,299,328,800), while the market value of Qassim Cement Company on the same date 

is five billion, six hundred and eighty-eight million Saudi Riyals (SR 5,688,000,000). 
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36- MATERIAL EVENTS(CONTINED) 

 

Acquisition of Hail Cement Company (contined) 
The implementation agreement stipulates a share swap equation (ratio) of (0.21) for any new share 

in Qassim Cement Company against each share in Hail Cement Company. Accordingly, if the deal 

is completed, Qassim Cement Company’s share capital will increase by twenty million five hundred 

and fifty-nine thousand (20,559,000) shares, with a total nominal value of two hundred and five 

million five hundred and ninety thousand Saudi Riyals (SR 205,590,000). As a result of capital 

increase resulting from the deal, current shareholders of Qassim Cement Company will own 

(81.4%) of Qassim Cement Company share capital, while the shareholders of Hail Cement 

Company will own (18.6%) of Qassim Cement Company share capital. After obtaining the 

necessary regulatory approvals, Qassim Cement Company will publish a circular to its shareholders 

that includes all the details related to the share capital increase and risks related to it. The approvals 

have not been obtained until the reporting date. 

 

The new Regulations for companies 

- The new Regulations for companies issued through Royal Decree M/132 on 1/12/1443H 

(corresponding to 30 June 2022) (hereinafter referred as “The Law”) entered into force on 

26/6/1444H (corresponding to 19 January 2023). For certain provisions of the Law, full compliance 

is expected no later than two years from 26/6/1444H (corresponding to 19 January 2023). The 

management is in process of assessing the impact of the new Regulations for companies and will 

amend its Company’s by-laws for any changes to align the by-laws with the provisions of Law (if 

any). Consequently, the Company shall present the amended By-laws to the shareholders in their 

Extraordinary/Annual General Assembly meeting for their ratification. 

 

37- SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

- On 04 January 2024, the Company announced that it had received a notice from the Arabian Oil 

Company (Aramco) on 03 January 2024 (corresponding to 21 Jumadah II 1445H), that the price of 

fuel used in the Company's activities would be adjusted as at 01 January 2024. 

 

Such adjustment will have financial impact on the production cost starting from the results of the 

first quarter of the year 2024. The Company is currently working on calculating the expected 

financial impact and it will be announced when the calculation is completed. 

 

Other than the above, management believes that there have been no significant subsequent events 

for the year ended 31 December 2023 that would have material impact on the Company’s financial 

position and its performance as reflected in these financial statements and the accompanying notes. 

 

- On 21 February 2024, based on the prior authorization of the General Assembly of shareholders, 

the Board of Directors decided to distribute dividends of SR 58.5 million at SR 0.65 per share for 

the fourth quarter dividends of 2023. 

 

38- APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

 

These financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 11 Sha’aban 1445H 

(corresponding to 21 February 2024). 




